

INDIA STRATEGIC REVIEW MARCH 2025

Author

Deependra Singh Hooda

Volume VI, Issue 3



Delhi Policy Group Core 5A, 1st Floor, India Habitat Centre, Lodhi Road, New Delhi- 110003 www.delhipolicygroup.org



ABOUT US

Founded in 1994, the Delhi Policy Group (DPG) is among India's oldest think tanks with its primary focus on strategic and international issues of critical national interest. DPG is a non-partisan institution and is independently funded by a non-profit Trust. Over past decades, DPG has established itself in both domestic and international circles and is widely recognised today among the top security think tanks of India and of Asia's major powers.

Since 2016, in keeping with India's increasing global profile, DPG has expanded its focus areas to include India's regional and global role and its policies in the Indo-Pacific. In a realist environment, DPG remains mindful of the need to align India's ambitions with matching strategies and capabilities, from diplomatic initiatives to security policy and military modernisation.

At a time of disruptive change in the global order, DPG aims to deliver research based, relevant, reliable and realist policy perspectives to an actively engaged public, both at home and abroad. DPG is deeply committed to the growth of India's national power and purpose, the security and prosperity of the people of India and India's contributions to the global public good. We remain firmly anchored within these foundational principles which have defined DPG since its inception.

Author

Lt. Gen. Deependra Singh Hooda (Retd.), PVSM, UYSM, AVSM, VSM & Bar, Distinguished Fellow for Military Strategy, Delhi Policy Group

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author and should not be attributed to the Delhi Policy Group as an Institution.

INDIA STRATEGIC REVIEW

The ISR features an assessment of key developments, trends, and policies pertaining to India's immediate and continental neighbourhood, and is authored by Lt. Gen. Deependra Singh Hooda (Retd.), Distinguished Fellow for Military Strategy. The research team includes Shreyas Deshmukh, Research Associate. Your comments and feedback may be addressed to Shreyas Deshmukh at shreyas@dpg.org.in. To subscribe, please <u>click here</u>.

Cover Images:

On March 20, a U.S. delegation, led by Special Envoy for Prisoner Affairs and former Afghan reconciliation envoy Zalmay Khalilzad, visited Kabul to discuss prisoner releases with Amir Khan Muttaqi, an acting Foreign Minister of the Taliban. Source: <u>MOFA IEA</u>

INS Ranvir from Indian Navy and BNS Abu Ubaidah from Bangladesh Navy during Naval Exercise Bongosagar 2025 and Coordinated Patrol (CORPAT) in the Bay of Bengal. Source: Indian Navy

President Xi Jinping met with Chief Adviser of the Bangladeshi Interim Government Muhammad Yunus in Beijing, on March 28, 2025. Source: X/@ChiefAdviserGoB

© 2025 by the Delhi Policy Group

Delhi Policy Group

Core 5A, 1st Floor, India Habitat Centre, Lodhi Road, New Delhi- 110003. www.delhipolicygroup.org

India Strategic Review

Vol. VI, Issue 3 March 2025

Contents

AFGHANISTAN	1
Tensions in Afghanistan-Pakistan Ties	1
International Engagements	2
PAKISTAN	3
Deteriorating Internal Security	3
China-Pakistan Arms Trade	4
DEVELOPMENTS ON THE INDIA-CHINA LINE OF ACTUAL CONTROL	
(LAC)	5
Situation at the LAC	5
BANGLADESH	7
Deepening Political Instability	7
India-Bangladesh Ties	8
NEPAL	
Pro-Monarchy Protests	10



India Strategic Review

by

Lt. Gen. Deependra Singh Hooda (Retd.)

AFGHANISTAN

Tensions in Afghanistan-Pakistan Ties

On March 3, Afghanistan's Ministry of Interior Affairs reported that one member of its security forces had been killed and two injured in the overnight clashes with Pakistani soldiers at the Torkham crossing.¹ Torkham is the main artery for trade and travel between Afghanistan and Pakistan but has been closed since April 21, when the two sides used mortars and rocket fire after Afghan forces objected to Pakistan's construction of a border outpost.²

Torkham was reopened for trade on March 19, after the two sides agreed to a ceasefire till April 15 and a halt to the construction of checkposts close to the border.³ The reopening brings relief to the Afghan population, which faces a humanitarian crisis and relies heavily on Pakistan for food imports.

Following the hijacking of the Jaffar Express by Baloch militants on March 11, a senior Afghan diplomat was summoned to the Pakistan Foreign Office to register a protest over the hijackers being in contact with their handlers in Afghanistan.⁴ In response, The Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Islamic Emirate urged "Pakistani authorities to focus on ensuring security and addressing their internal issues instead of making such irresponsible remarks."⁵

In a bid to repair ties, Pakistan's special envoy for Afghanistan, Ambassador Muhammad Sadiq, visited Kabul from March 21 to 23. During his meeting with Afghanistan's Acting Foreign Minister, Mawlawi Amir Khan Muttaqi, both sides agreed to sustain their diplomatic engagement to address ongoing bilateral challenges, including trade, security and the status of Afghan refugees in Pakistan. Muttaqi emphasised that "obstacles to transit routes and trade are not in the interest of either side and should not be linked to other disputes."⁶

Sadiq's visit is being termed fruitful, but some fundamental disagreements will keep the bilateral relationship volatile. The central issue is the sharp rise in Tehrik-i-Taliban Pakistan (TTP) cross-border attacks from Afghan soil into Pakistan. The Global Terrorism Index 2025 report notes, "Since the [Afghan] Taliban's return to power in Afghanistan in 2021, TTP has capitalised on



increased operational freedom and access to safe havens across the border. This has allowed the group to plan and execute attacks with greater impunity."⁷

Even as Sadiq was in Kabul, the Pakistan Army reported that it had killed 16 terrorists attempting to infiltrate from Afghanistan. Pakistan's frustration with the Taliban's unwillingness to control the TTP has led to cross-border attacks, including airstrikes conducted by the Pakistan Air Force in December 2024.

Another source of bilateral tensions is the decision by Pakistan to deport Afghan Citizen Card holders and those refugees residing illegally if they do not voluntarily leave Pakistan by March 31. These two categories of refugees total more than 1.4 million, of which about 840,000 have already returned to Afghanistan.⁸ The Taliban government has repeatedly stressed that Afghan refugees in Pakistan should be allowed to return with dignity, rather than being forcibly expelled.

The Durand Line, a colonial-era border established in 1893, remains a point of contention, with Afghanistan not recognising it as an official border. This has led to repeated clashes over the erection of a border fence by Pakistan and the construction of posts by both sides close to the border.

While diplomatic efforts are ongoing, unless both sides can address the TTP and border issues effectively, the relationship between Afghanistan and Pakistan is likely to remain tense.

International Engagements

On March 20, the US State Department announced that George Glezmann, an American tourist abducted in December 2022 while travelling through Afghanistan, had been released by the Taliban. George Glezmann is the third American detainee to be released by the Taliban since January.⁹

On March 23, the Afghanistan Interior Ministry spokesman Abdul Mateen Qani said the US government had revoked the bounties placed on three senior Taliban leaders - Interior Minister Sirajuddin Haqqani, Abdul Aziz Haqqani, and Yahya Haqqani.¹⁰ A US State Department spokesperson confirmed that "there is no current reward" for these individuals. Still, they remain 'Specially Designated Global Terrorists and the Haqqani Network remains designated as a Foreign Terrorist Organization.^{"11}

Qani said that the revocation of bounties was "a good step, and this shows our new interaction with the world and particularly with the United States." While it would be premature to see this as a potential thaw in US-Taliban relations, it is



evident that there is increasing acceptance among the international community to engage with the Taliban government on selective issues.

On March 3, a statement from the Afghanistan Embassy in Tehran said that Fazl Mohammad Haqqani, the head of the embassy, held a meeting with Rudra Gaurav Shresth, the Indian Ambassador to Iran. The embassy added that the discussions focused on developing bilateral cooperation, particularly on expanding trade through Chabahar.¹²

Speaking at a ceremony in New Delhi on March 20, India's External Affairs Minister, Dr S Jaishankar, stated that India would like to keep the relationship with the Afghan people going. India has, therefore, taken a practical approach based on humanitarian considerations to engage with the Taliban, who currently govern Afghanistan.¹³

PAKISTAN

Deteriorating Internal Security

The Global Terrorism Index 2025, released this month, placed Pakistan second in the list, noting a 45 per cent rise in deaths from terrorism over the previous year, totalling 1,081.¹⁴ This is the fifth consecutive year in which an increase in terrorism-related deaths has been recorded and is the largest year-on-year increase in the last decade for Pakistan. This trend is mirrored by a rise in the number of terror attacks, which more than doubled from 517 in 2023 to 1,099 in 2024.

The TTP has emerged as the fastest-growing terrorist group, responsible for 52 per cent of deaths in Pakistan in 2024. Last year, the TTP carried out 482 attacks, resulting in 558 deaths, an increase of 91 per cent from the 293 deaths in the preceding year.¹⁵

On March 4, suicide bombers drove two vehicles packed with explosives into a military base in Bannu, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. In the ensuing firefight, five Pakistan Army soldiers and 16 terrorists were killed. The blast also destroyed a nearby mosque and a residential building, killing 13 civilians and injuring 32 others. Jaish al-Fursan, an outfit affiliated with the TTP, claimed responsibility for the attack.¹⁶

Even as the TTP has stepped up its attacks in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, the security situation in Balochistan has deteriorated even more rapidly. In February, 62 per cent of all terror-related fatalities occurred in Balochistan.¹⁷ Attacks by Baloch



militants have not only targeted security forces but also infrastructure projects and non-Baloch civilians.

On March 11, the Baloch Liberation Army (BLA) hijacked the Jaffar Express, a passenger train travelling from Quetta to Peshawar, with around 440 passengers on board. The attackers detonated explosives on the tracks near Sibi, Balochistan, halting the train in a remote area. In a rescue operation that lasted more than 30 hours, the Pakistan Army killed 33 militants and freed the passengers. However, 26 passengers and security personnel were killed, which included 18 army and paramilitary forces, three railway staff members and five civilian passengers.¹⁸

In a press conference held on March 14, Lieutenant General Ahmed Sharif Chaudhry, the director general for the military's media wing Inter-Services Public Relations (ISPR), accused India and Afghanistan of supporting the train hijackers.¹⁹ India has rejected the "baseless allegations" and asked Pakistan to "look inwards instead of pointing fingers and shifting the blame for its own internal problems and failures onto others."²⁰

Pakistan's militarised approach in dealing with the security situation in Balochistan has only alienated the local population and strengthened the separatist narrative. Pressure on the Afghan Taliban to rein in the TTP has met with very limited success. Given these dynamics, any improvement in the internal security appears unlikely.

China-Pakistan Arms Trade

On March 13, The Wuchang Shipbuilding Industry Group of China launched the second diesel-electric Hangor class submarine for the Pakistan Navy. Pakistan has contracted for eight submarines, four to be built in China and four in Pakistan by Karachi Shipyard and Engineering Works under a transfer of technology arrangement.²¹

China dominates Pakistan's arms imports, providing advanced weaponry across air, land, and sea domains. According to the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI), between 2020 and 2024, Pakistan was the fifth largest arms importer in the world, accounting for 4.6 per cent of global arms imports. 81 per cent of these imports came from China, compared with 74 per cent in 2015–19. Pakistan is also China's top arms export destination, accounting for 63 per cent of all arms exports in 2020-24.²²

Major arms acquisitions from China that have helped modernise the Pakistan military are:



- Army. Pakistan's latest battle tank, Haider, is a variant of the Chinese VT-4 and is being manufactured in collaboration with a Chinese defence contractor, NORINCO. Pakistan has contracted for 236 SH-15 self-propelled artillery systems, deliveries of which commenced in 2022. Long-range air defence systems are all of Chinese origin, with the HQ-9/P being inducted in 2021. Pakistan also operates Chinese Wing Loong II and CH-4 Unmanned Aerial Vehicles.
- **Navy**. Pakistan's most modern frigates are four Type 054 A/P Frigates built in China. The ship features several capabilities - including anti-surface warfare, anti-aircraft warfare, anti-submarine warfare, and low radar observability. Pakistan has procured a specialised research ship, PNS Rizwan, from China in 2023. The ship possesses the capability to track nuclear-armed ballistic missiles and carry out other intelligence-gathering missions.²³
- Air Force. The JF-17 Thunder fighter jet, co-developed by Pakistan Aeronautical Complex and China's Chengdu Aircraft Industry Group, is the mainstay of the Pakistan Air Force, with over 150 units in service. 25 J-10CE aircraft are also being delivered, with some sources indicating that additional aircraft could be ordered. There are reports that Pakistan will procure 40 Chinese J-35 stealth fighter jets. This deal would be Beijing's first transfer of fifth-generation fighters to a foreign ally.²⁴

Apart from conventional weaponry, there is close cooperation between China and Pakistan in cyber and space operations. Pakistan is among the few countries granted access to China's BeiDou satellite navigation system's military service, allowing for more precise guidance of missiles, ships, and aircraft.²⁵

With a defence budget currently about 10 per cent of India's defence budget, Pakistan's ability to maintain a credible military capability is almost entirely dependent on arms transfers from China.

DEVELOPMENTS ON THE INDIA-CHINA LINE OF ACTUAL CONTROL (LAC)

Situation at the LAC

The LAC remains calm with the understanding on patrolling arrangements working satisfactorily. Speaking at the India Today Conclave on March 8, Indian Army Chief Gen Upendra Dwivedi stated that the second and third rounds of patrolling have taken place at Depsang, and both sides are cooperating with



each other. However, he did contend that there is a high degree of collusivity between China and Pakistan and that the two-front threat is a reality.²⁶

With the easing of tensions along the LAC, positive statements are coming from both sides on bilateral relations. Speaking on the Lex Fridman Podcast, Prime Minister Narendra Modi said that India and China were "working to restore conditions to how they were before 2020." Prime Minister Modi stressed that the government is focused on ensuring that differences between the two countries do not escalate into disputes. He added, "Competition is not a bad thing, but it should never turn into conflict."²⁷

China's foreign ministry spokesperson Mao Ning "appreciated" Prime Minister Modi's "positive" remarks. She said China "stands ready to work with India to implement the important common understandings between the two leaders... and advance China-India relations on the track of sound and stable development."²⁸

The 33rd meeting of the Working Mechanism for Consultation & Coordination on India-China Border Affairs (WMCC) was held on March 25 in Beijing. The official statement of the Indian Ministry of External Affairs (MEA) said that the meeting was held in a positive and constructive atmosphere and that the situation was comprehensively reviewed along the Line of Actual Control. Both sides exchanged views on the early resumption of cross-border cooperation and exchanges, including on trans-border rivers and the Kailash-Mansarovar Yatra. They also agreed to work together to make substantial preparations for the next meeting of the Special Representatives, which will be held in India.²⁹

A post on Facebook by the Chinese Embassy in India was similar in wording to the MEA statement. However, there was no reference to the exchange of information on trans-border rivers and the resumption of the Kailash-Mansarovar Yatra.³⁰

Even as ties move towards normalisation, there is unlikely to be any slow-down in the military capability development on the LAC. Some media reports indicate that India is planning to raise 72 Infantry Division, a new formation that will be deployed in Eastern Ladakh. It will take over the operational responsibility of the Uniform Force, which was moved from its counter-insurgency role in the Jammu region to Eastern Ladakh in 2020.³¹



BANGLADESH

Deepening Political Instability

On February 28, Bangladeshi students, key players in last year's government ouster, formed a new political party, the National Citizens Party (NCP). The party's leadership comprises key organisers from Students Against Discrimination (SAD). The NCP is led by its convener, Nahid Islam, a former advisor to the interim government, with Akhtar Hossain serving as its secretary. All nine top officials of the party are fellow student leaders who gained prominence during the mass uprising. This youth-dominated leadership marks a decisive break from Bangladesh's traditional political elite. Nahid has said that building a new Bangladesh is impossible unless the governance structure and constitution are reformed.³²

One of the key demands of the NCP is banning the Awami League (AL). Nahid has called for the AL to be declared a terrorist group and to be banned from political activity.³³ In this demand, the NCP is supported by Bangladesh Jamaat-e-Islami, a party that the Sheikh Hasina government banned, a ban subsequently lifted after her ouster.³⁴

While the AL is a much-weakened party with most of its leadership in hiding or jailed, the NCP's demand to ban AL has found little resonance with the interim government and Bangladesh Nationalist Party (BNP). Chief Adviser Prof Muhammad Yunus has said that the interim government has no plans to ban the AL, but individuals within its leadership accused of crimes, including murder and crimes against humanity, will be tried in Bangladeshi courts.³⁵

BNP is opposed to an outright ban on the AL. BNP leaders have stressed their party's commitment to multiparty democracy and said that endorsing a move to ban a party contradicts its core values. The BNP also sees demands for a ban on the AL as "an attempt to create an anarchic situation in the country and ultimately delay the electoral process."³⁶

The debate over the AL has also resulted in a clash between the NCP and the Bangladesh Army. In a Facebook post, Hasnat Abdullah, principal coordinator of the NCP, accused the Army of proposing the rehabilitation of AL during a meeting held on March 11. He wrote, "A plan is underway to introduce a new plot called 'Refined Awami League.' This plan is entirely orchestrated by India." The Army Headquarters has reacted to Hasnat Abdullah's Facebook post, stating that these are "extremely laughable and an immature array of stories."³⁷



Differences have emerged between the interim government and the BNP over the timing of the election. In his speech on the occasion of Bangladesh Independence Day, Muhammad Yunus announced that the national elections will be held between December 2025 and June 2026. This would give time for reforms to conduct "the most free, fair and acceptable election in the country's history."³⁸

The BNP wants a return to democracy this year. In an interview with Reuters, Abdul Moyeen Khan, a senior party member, said, "We will try to convince them [interim government] that the best way for them is to call an election as soon as possible and go for an honourable exit." Any delay beyond December could lead to "strong resentment" among the people and maybe "some instability."³⁹

The political vacuum and fragile law and order situation have heightened concerns about the growing radical threat from Islamic fundamentalist groups. The bulk of security operations (like Operation Devil Hunt) have been directed at remnants of the Awami League and its affiliates, leaving the hardline religious extremists largely untouched.

India-Bangladesh Ties

Even as India-Bangladesh relations remain strained, Chief Adviser Muhammad Yunus, in an interview with BBC, sought to allay concerns, asserting that there is no other way but to have good relations between Bangladesh and India. Yunus acknowledged the emergence of some conflicts but attributed them primarily to "propaganda."⁴⁰

On March 26, on the occasion of National Day of Bangladesh, Prime Minister Modi wrote a letter to Chief Adviser Yunus, calling for taking forward bilateral ties based on sensitivity to each other's concerns. Prime Minister Modi's outreach comes after the Bangladesh interim government sought a meeting between Yunus and the Indian Prime Minister on the sidelines of the BIMSTEC summit, to be held early April in Bangkok.⁴¹

A series of bilateral engagements took place in March. Officials of Bangladesh and India held the 86th meeting of the Joint River Commission in Kolkata on March 6, where they discussed the pros and cons of renewing the 30-year-old Ganges water-sharing treaty, which is coming up for renewal next year.⁴²

A two-day meeting to review Indian-funded projects in Bangladesh was held in Dhaka on March 5-6. At least 11 of the 40 projects currently listed under the three Indian Lines of Credit (LoC) are set to be removed from the loan scheme. This decision comes as projects in the approval stage or those approved but not



yet under construction will be excluded. Consequently, the total LoC will decrease from 7.34 billion to 4.68 billion.⁴³

India and Bangladesh concluded the Naval Exercise Bongosagar 2025 and Coordinated Patrol (CORPAT) in the Bay of Bengal on March 13. The exercise saw participation from INS Ranvir, a guided-missile destroyer of the Indian Navy, and BNS Abu Ubaidah, a frigate from the Bangladesh Navy. The exercise provided the opportunity for both navies to develop closer links in tactical planning, coordination and information sharing for undertaking seamless maritime operations.⁴⁴

Despite these bilateral engagements, fundamental differences persist in ties. India's Foreign Secretary Vikram Misri, in an interaction with the Standing Committee on External Affairs of the Parliament, outlined the rise of disruptive factional forces in Bangladesh and noted that the "continued release of Islamist extremists" by the interim government is a matter of concern for "regional and global security."⁴⁵ Dr Jaishankar has informed the Parliament that attacks on minorities in Bangladesh are a matter of concern for the Indian government.

Bangladesh's strategic shift towards Pakistan and China is another cause of tensions. Yunus undertook a four-day official to China from March 26 to 29. While the visit primarily aimed to deepen economic cooperation with China, several aspects are of concern to India. Yunus invited China's state-owned entities to participate in the comprehensive management and restoration project of Teesta, a transboundary river that flows from India to Bangladesh.⁴⁶ New Delhi is concerned that this would allow Chinese personnel to be present in an area close to the strategically sensitive Siliguri Corridor.

China has pledged \$400 million for the modernisation of the Mongla Port. In July 2024, India had obtained the operational rights for a terminal at Mongla. China's involvement in the port's modernisation could complicate India's access and strategic interests.

Yunus also stirred up a controversy with a reference to India's northeastern states. During a roundtable discussion in Beijing, he said, "The seven states of India, the eastern part of India, are called the Seven Sisters. They are a landlocked region of India. They have no way to reach out to the ocean. We are the only guardian of the ocean for all this region. So this opens up a huge possibility. This could be an extension of the Chinese economy."⁴⁷

These remarks drew a sharp response from political leaders of the Northeastern states. Assam Chief Minister Himanta Biswa Sarma called them "offensive and strongly condemnable." Congress MP from Assam, Gaurav Gogoi called the



remarks "deeply concerning and unacceptable, as they undermine India's sovereignty and territorial integrity."⁴⁸

NEPAL

Pro-Monarchy Protests

On the eve of Nepal's 75th Democracy Day, February 19, former King Gyanendra Shah released a video expressing deep dissatisfaction with the current state of Nepal, warning of eroding national identity, economic decay, and widespread disillusionment among the youth. The video sparked a debate in the country on whether the former king was hinting at a leadership role for himself.⁴⁹ On March 9, when King Gyanendra Shah returned to Kathmandu following a trip to Western Nepal, thousands of loyalists, including leaders and party workers from the Rastriya Prajatantra Party (RJP), assembled outside the airport, demanding the reinstatement of the monarchy.⁵⁰

The abolition of Nepal's monarchy in 2008 marked the country's transition to a secular republic. However, Nepal has experienced significant political instability since then, with 13 different governments in 17 years. This instability, coupled with widespread corruption and economic challenges, has fueled public frustration. Many citizens believe that the current political system has failed to deliver stability and development, leading to renewed calls for the restoration of the monarchy.

On March 28, the protests turned violent as pro-royalists clashed with the police in Kathmandu. Two persons, including a TV cameraman, were killed and 110 others injured, while over a dozen properties, including business complexes, restaurants, hospitals and private and government buildings, were vandalised.⁵¹

Nepal's main political parties have reacted strongly to the pro-monarchy sentiment. Prime Minister KP Sharma Oli accused the former king of inciting unrest and warned of legal action, likening the violent incidents to "terrorist activities.⁵² Former prime minister and CPN (Maoist Centre) party chairman Pushpa Kamal Dahal 'Prachanda' has warned the pro-monarchy forces that any attempt to challenge the republican set-up would be countered with a revolution.⁵³

Prime Minister Oli has reportedly claimed that India has played a role in the pro-monarchy protests. This charge has been categorically denied by Indian Foreign Minister Dr Jaishankar and conveyed to Nepal's political leadership by the Indian Ambassador to Nepal.⁵⁴



It is unlikely that the monarchy will return to Nepal. However, the protests reflect a deep frustration among the population at the political instability in the country, charges of corruption against leaders, economic underperformance, and apathy to people's concerns.



ENDNOTES

- ¹ Ali, Mushtag. "Pakistan-Afghanistan Border Clashes Ease, Thousands Seek Shelter." Reuters, March 4, 2025, sec. Asia Pacific. https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/pakistan-afghanistan-borderclashes-ease-thousands-seek-shelter-2025-03-04/. ² Reuters. "Pakistan, Afghanistan Open Main Border Crossing, Closed for Nearly a Month." March 19, 2025, sec. Asia Pacific. https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/pakistan-afghanistan-open-mainborder-crossing-closed-nearly-month-2025-03-19/. ³ ANI News. "Torkham Border Crossing between Pakistan, Afghanistan Reopens after 27 Days." Accessed March 27, 2025. https://www.aninews.in/news/world/asia/torkham-border-crossing-betweenpakistan-afghanistan-reopens-after-27-days20250320094202/. ⁴ Yousaf, Kamran. "Pakistan Lodges Formal Protest with Kabul over Train Attack." The Express Tribune, March 18, 2025. https://tribune.com.pk/story/2534928/pakistan-lodges-formal-protest-with-kabulover-train-attack. ⁵ TOLOnews. "Islamic Emirate Rejects Pakistan Accusations Over Train Attack." Accessed March 29, 2025. https://tolonews.com/afghanistan-193451. ⁶ Syed, Bagir Sajjad. "Islamabad, Kabul Agree to Deepen Diplomatic Ties." DAWN.COM, 06:42:32+05:00. https://www.dawn.com/news/1899690. ⁷ Deccan Herald. "Pakistan Becomes World's Second-Most Terrorism-Affected Country in 2024: Report." Accessed March 27, 2025. https://www.deccanherald.com//world/pak-terrorism-report-2-3435626. ⁸ "Situation Afghanistan Situation." Accessed March 28, 2025. https://data.unhcr.org/en/situations/afghanistan. ⁹ AP News. "Taliban Release an American Man Who Was Abducted While Traveling in Afghanistan," March 20, 2025. https://apnews.com/article/afghanistan-hostage-taliban-trumpe6a4d42edc25f290552a5e2ad21f8889. ¹⁰ AP News. "The US Lifts Bounties on Senior Taliban Officials, Including Sirajuddin Haggani, Says Kabul," March 23, 2025. https://apnews.com/article/afghanistan-taliban-haggani-us-bountya9f5434850d78f15f81f72222c14b894. ¹¹ "US Drops Bounties on Key Taliban Leaders," March 25, 2025. https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/c1enxv4vz7do. ¹² "Taliban Expands Ties With India, Discusses Trade Via Chabahar Port With Indian Ambassador," March 3, 2025. https://www.afintl.com/en/202503034164. ¹³ "India Engages With Taliban To Support Afghan People, Says Foreign Minister," March 21, 2025. https://www.afintl.com/en/202503214487. ¹⁴ "Global Terrorism Index 2025." <u>https://www.economicsandpeace.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2025/03/Global-Terrorism-Index-2025.pdf ¹⁵ Desk, News. "Tehrik-e-Taliban Pakistan (TTP) Named Fastest-Growing Terror Group in 2025." The Express Tribune, March 6, 2025. https://tribune.com.pk/story/2532706/tehrik-e-taliban-pakistan-ttpnamed-fastest-growing-terror-group-in-2025. ¹⁶ Khan, Tahir. "All 16 Terrorists Killed as Security Forces Respond to Bannu Cantt Attack: ISPR." DAWN.COM, 14:15:42+05:00. https://www.dawn.com/news/1895956. ¹⁷ Reporter, The Newspaper's Staff. "62pc of Deaths from Terror Attacks in Balochistan." DAWN.COM, 06:22:00+05:00. https://www.dawn.com/news/1896269. ¹⁸ Hussain, Abid. "Pakistan Links Train Hijacking to 'Afghan Handlers' and Indian Mastermind." Al Jazeera. Accessed March 29, 2025. https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2025/3/14/pakistan-links-trainhijacking-to-afghan-handlers-and-indian-mastermind. ¹⁹ Ibid ²⁰ Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India. "Official Spokesperson's Response to Media Queries Regarding Remarks Made by the Pakistan Side." Accessed March 29, 2025. https://mea.gov.in/response-toqueries.htm?dtl/39169/Official_Spokespersons_response_to_media_queries_regarding_remarks_made by_the_Pakistan_side ²¹ Standard, Business. "Chinese Shipyard Completes 2nd Hangor Class Submarine for Pakistan's Navy," March 16, 2025. https://www.business-standard.com/external-affairs-defence-security/news/chineseshipyard-completes-2nd-hangor-class-submarine-for-pakistan-s-navy-125031600355_1.html. ²² George, M, K Djokic, Z Hussain, P D Wezeman, and S T /SIPRI Wezeman. "Trends in International Arms Transfers, 2024," https://www.sipri.org/sites/default/files/2025-03/fs_2503_at_2024_0.pdf
- ²³ Sadham, Vinay. "Answer to INS Dhruv: Pakistan Gets Spy Ship from China to Track Ballistic Missiles," March 18, 2024. https://thenewsmill.com/2024/03/answer-to-ins-dhruv-pakistan-gets-spy-shipfrom-china-to-track-ballistic-missiles/, <u>https://thenewsmill.com/2024/03/answer-to-ins-dhruv-pakistan-gets-spy-ship-from-china-to-track-ballistic-missiles/</u>.
- ²⁴ Livemint. "Pakistan to Acquire 40 Chinese Stealth Fighters. All about China's J-35 Fighter, a Stealth Rival to US F-35 | Today News." mint, December 24, 2024.



https://www.livemint.com/news/world/pakistan-to-acquire-40-chinese-stealth-fighters-all-about-china-j-35-fighter-a-stealth-rival-to-us-lockheed-martin-f35-11735000787818.html.

- ²⁵ The Week. "China's 'Full' BeiDou Navigation System to Boost Accuracy of Pakistan's Missiles?" Accessed March 30, 2025. <u>https://www.theweek.in/news/world/2020/04/01/china-full-beidou-navigation-system-to-boost-accuracy-of-pakistan-missiles.html</u>.
- ²⁶ The Economic Times. "High Degree of Collusivity: Indian Army Chief on Pakistan, China." March 8, 2025. <u>https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/high-degree-of-collusivity-indian-army-chief-on-pakistan-china/articleshow/118804741.cms?from=mdr</u>.
- ²⁷ www.ndtv.com. "'After My Recent Meeting With President Xi...': PM Modi On India-China Ties." Accessed March 31, 2025. <u>https://www.ndtv.com/world-news/pm-modi-lex-fridman-podcast-xi-jinping-not-everything-is-always-perfect-pm-modi-on-india-china-ties-7936609</u>.
- ²⁸ The Indian Express. "Appreciate His Positive Remarks on Bilateral Ties: China on PM Modi's Sino-India Podcast Remarks," March 18, 2025. <u>https://indianexpress.com/article/india/china-appreciatespm-modi-positive-remarks-sino-india-ties-9890759/</u>.
- ²⁹ Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India. "33rd Meeting of the Working Mechanism for Consultation & Coordination on India-China Border Affairs (March 25, 2025)." Accessed March 31, 2025. <u>https://mea.gov.in/press-</u>

releases.htm?dtl/39255/33rd+Meeting+of+the+Working+Mechanism+for+Consultation++Coordination +on+IndiaChina+Border+Affairs+March+25+2025.

- ³⁰ Embassy of The People's Republic of China in India. Accessed March 31, 2025.
- https://www.facebook.com/permalink.php/?story_fbid=675406915069102&id=100077993982184. ³¹ India Today. "Army to Permanently Deploy 72 Division to Guard China Border in Eastern Ladakh," March 27, 2025. <u>https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/indian-army-deploy-infantry-division-guard-</u>
- line-of-actual-control-eastem-ladakh-china-border-2700171-2025-03-27. ³² The Times of India. "Bangladesh Students-Built Party Calls for New Constitution." March 5, 2025. <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/world/south-asia/bangladesh-students-built-party-calls-for-new-constitution/articleshow/118721081.cms</u>.
- ³³ Correspondent, Staff. "Awami League Has to Be Declared a Terrorist Political Party: Nahid Islam." Prothomalo, March 25, 2025. <u>https://en.prothomalo.com/bangladesh/politics/rhwe8rfy9o</u>.
- ³⁴ Correspondent, Staff. "People Will Not Accept Awami League's Return: Jamaat Amir." Prothomalo, March 21, 2025. <u>https://en.prothomalo.com/bangladesh/uwz0mm8hqx</u>.
- ³⁵ The Daily Star. "'No Plan to Ban Awami League," March 20, 2025.
- https://www.thedailystar.net/news/bangladesh/politics/news/no-plan-ban-awami-league-3853611. ³⁶ The Daily Star. "AL Ban Debate: BNP Sniffs Ploy to Delay the Polls," March 23, 2025.
- https://www.thedailystar.net/news/bangladesh/politics/news/al-ban-debate-bnp-sniffs-ploy-delaythe-polls-3855161.
- ³⁷ Correspondent, Staff. "Hasnat's Statement 'Laughable', 'Immature': Army HQ to Netra News." Prothomalo, March 23, 2025. <u>https://en.prothomalo.com/bangladesh/politics/gtou18sn87</u>.
- ³⁸ BSS. "Elections between December This Year and June next Year." Prothomalo, March 25, 2025. <u>https://en.prothomalo.com/bangladesh/mkss1b00te</u>.
- ³⁹ Das, Krishna N., and Krishna N. Das. "Bangladesh's Main Opposition Warns of Instability If Elections Delayed beyond December." Reuters, March 31, 2025, sec. Asia Pacific. <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/bangladeshs-main-opposition-warns-instability-if-elections-delayed-beyond-2025-03-31/</u>.
- ⁴⁰Hindustan Times. "Bangladesh Has No Option but to Have Good Ties with India: Muhammad Yunus," March 3, 2025. <u>https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/bangladesh-has-no-option-but-to-have-good-ties-with-india-muhammad-yunus-101741002301095.html</u>.
- ⁴¹ The Indian Express. "Bangladesh National Day: PM Modi Writes to Mohammad Yunus, Calls for 'Mutual Sensitivity' to Concerns," March 28, 2025. <u>https://indianexpress.com/article/india/pm-modi-mohammad-yunus-letter-national-day-9908696/</u>.

⁴² The Daily Star. "Bangladesh, India Hold JRC Meeting in Kolkata," March 7, 2025.

- https://www.thedailystar.net/news/bangladesh/diplomacy/news/bangladesh-india-hold-jrc-meetingkolkata-3841561
- ⁴³ The Business Standard. "Bangladesh to Drop 11 Projects from Indian LoC Due to Prolonged Process," March 7, 2025. <u>https://www.tbsnews.net/bangladesh/bangladesh-drop-11-projects-indian-loc-due-prolonged-process-1086456</u>.
- ⁴⁴ "INS RANVIR PARTICIPATES IN EXERCISE BONGOSAGAR 25 AND INDIAN NAVY BANGLADESH NAVY CORPAT." Accessed April 1, 2025.
- https://pib.gov.in/pib.gov.in/Pressreleaseshare.aspx?PRID=2111292.
- ⁴⁵ Bhattacherjee, Kallol. "MPs Briefed on Role of Bangladesh Army Chief in Stability." The Hindu, March 26, 2025, sec. India. <u>https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/mps-briefed-on-role-of-bangladesharmy-chief-in-stability/article69378542.ece</u>.
- ⁴⁶ Deccan Herald. "Yunus Invites China to Take Part in River Conservation Project Close to India's Chicken's Neck Corridor." Accessed April 1, 2025. <u>https://www.deccanherald.com//world/yunus-</u>



invites-china-to-take-part-in-river-conservation-project-close-to-indias-chickens-neck-corridor-3468159.

- ⁴⁷ The Indian Express. "Yunus Pitch to China: India's Northeast Landlocked, Bangladesh Is Your Gateway," April 1, 2025. <u>https://indianexpress.com/article/india/yunus-pitch-to-china-indias-n-e-landlocked-bangladesh-is-your-gateway-9917020/</u>.
- ⁴⁸ Firstpost. "Why Bangaldesh Leader Yunus' Remarks on the Northeast Have Angered India," April 1, 2025. <u>https://www.firstpost.com/explainers/bangaldesh-leader-muhammad-yunus-northeast-china-remarks-india-row-13876366.html</u>.
- ⁴⁹ Nepal News. "What's Behind Former King Gyanendra Shah's Video Message Creating Waves in Nepal's Politics? Is a Comeback Possible?" Accessed April 1, 2025. <u>https://nepalnews.com/s/long-reads/whats-behind-former-king-gyanendra-shahs-video-message-creating-waves-in-nepals-politics-is-a-comeback-possible/</u>.
- ⁵⁰ PTI. "Nepal's Former King Gyanendra Shah Arrives in Kathmandu amidst Tight Security." The Hindu, March 9, 2025, sec. World. <u>https://www.thehindu.com/news/international/nepals-former-king-</u> gyanendra-shah-arrives-in-kathmandu-amidst-tight-security/article69310990.ece.
- ⁵¹ www.ndtv.com. "Nepal Pro-Monarchy Protests: Ex-King Gyanendra Shah's Security Team Downsized." Accessed April 2, 2025. <u>https://www.ndtv.com/world-news/nepal-pro-monarchy-protests-ex-king-gyanendra-shahs-security-team-downsized-8047637</u>.
- ⁵² The Times of India. "'Terrorist Activities': Nepal's Oli Blames Former King Gyanendra Shah for Unrest." March 31, 2025. <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/world/south-asia/terrorist-activities-nepals-oli-blames-former-king-gyanendra-shah-for-unrest/articleshow/119812328.cms</u>.
- ⁵³ The Week. "Attempt to Challenge Republican Set-up to Be Met with Revolution Prachanda." Accessed April 2, 2025. <u>https://www.theweek.in/wire-updates/international/2025/03/11/fgn73-nepal-prachanda-monarchists.html.</u>
- ⁵⁴ "Jaishankar Denies Indian Hand in Nepal Royalist Movement." Accessed April 2, 2025. <u>https://kathmandupost.com/politics/2025/03/19/jaishankar-denies-indian-hand-in-nepal-royalist-movement</u>.



Delhi Policy Group Core 5A, 1st Floor, India Habitat Centre, Lodhi Road New Delhi - 110003 India

www.delhipolicygroup.org